# Public Policy Recommendations for Advancing Digital Social Equity in the United States

Excerpted from "Advancing Digital Social Equity Through the Application of Innovative Digital Literacy Programs" Authored by Daniel Theodore Ling Kent; Founder, Net Literacy; Haverford College; The Growth and Structure of Cities Program; Advisor: Professor Gary Wray McDonogh; Published December 14, 2010; Printed in the Spring 2011 Bi-College Law Review; All rights reserved.

# Abstract

As more services and business migrates to the Internet, individuals who lack the ability to effectively and efficiently use computers and the Internet are at an increasingly greater risk for missing out on new opportunities that are available only to those who are online. Historical models for remediating those who are digitally excluded have made progress towards digital inclusion but much work remains. This paper makes recommendations on how best to advance digital literacy and digital inclusion in America going forward.

# **Table of Contents**

Abstractii
Table of Contentsiii
Introduction
Background and Terminology
What is Digital Inclusion?3
What is Digital Literacy?
What is Broadband and how does it impact Digital Literacy and Digital Inclusion?
How to Get People Online: the Six Most Important Next Steps to Increase Digital Literacy and Digital
Inclusion in the United States
1. Create a Special Advisor to the President (Effectively, a National Broadband Czar)
2. A Digital Inclusion Cost/Benefit Analysis Should be Conducted to Maximize Taxpayer ROI9
Broadband adoption is naturally increasing, but the Government Accountability Office or a similar
nonpartisan government entity should conduct a cost/benefit projection to estimate a taxpayer
return on investment for all components of the proposal9
3. The FCC should continue its public outreach strategy9
4. Review of International Digital Literacy and Digital Inclusion Programs and International
Broadband Plans11
5. The Recommendations should be prioritized, have an ROI, and a completion timetable12
6. Funding Broadband Adoption and Use as a component of the National Broadband Plan13
(a) National Funding With National Implementation14
iii   Page

(b) National Funding With State Implementation16
(c) National Funding With Local Implementation16
Estimating Costs17
(I) Assumptions Used to Estimate the Financial Order of Magnitude Using Two Digital Inclusion
Scenarios
(II) Assumptions Used to Estimate the Purchasing of Computer Hardware
(III) Assumptions Used to Estimate the Reoccurring Broadband Connectivity Service Fees 20
(IV) Assumptions Used to Estimate the Costs of Providing Digital Inclusion and Digital Literacy
Training23
Digital Inclusion Program Scenarios:23
Scenario One23
Scenario Two24
Digital Inclusion and Digital Literacy Costs for Training 8 Million Americans:
Conclusion27
Works Cited

"More than one out of three Americans will not receive all of the benefits that broadband has to deliver – and I'm talking about benefits in lifestyle, in telemedicine, in education, in jobs. They're simply going to miss out on an important part of the American Dream." - Dave McClure, President of the USIIA, June 22, 2010 (Kent, Broadband for America: A Roadmap to Broadband Adoption, 22 June, 2010)

# Introduction

With the growth of Internet, broadband has redefined the historical paradigm of communications and commerce. While precisely quantifying the cumulative impact of the Internet on the economic, political, and social spheres is virtually impossible, it is evident that not all individuals have equal access -- or access at all -- to such an important tool. As contemporary life becomes increasingly digitized, individuals without access are challenged to fully participate in modern society and enjoy the benefits of this global network. Indeed, over time these individuals may soon constitute a population who are in essence, partially disabled – lacking the ability to completely function in our new digital world. However through the application of innovative digital literacy programs, the Internet can help facilitate increased digital social equity.

Digital social equity is a society's responsibility that all of its citizens are digital literate in the context that digital literacy is a required 21<sup>st</sup> Century skill and society is responsible for the fair, just, and equitable treatments of its citizens. Digital social equity is an extension of H. George Fredrickson's theory of social equity (that those in public administration are making the mistake that citizen A is the same as citizen B; ignoring social and economic conditions) but applied to digital literacy. Digital social equity ensures that a sufficient commitment of digital literacy resources be distributed to groups that experience discrimination and social inequity so that all members of society are digitally literate and

able to use and access the Internet as an integral component of their lives. (Frederickson, 1990) (Urban Dictionary, 2010)

# **Background and Terminology**

# What is Digital Inclusion?

Digital inclusion means the long-term availability of access to the network that is the Internet through a "smart" device which allows for a two-way exchange of information from the end-user to the digital community and is a component of digital social equity. Digital inclusion can be accomplished through a number of ways: through smartphones, tablets, Internet equipped digital media players, computers and other electronic devices. Access through devices other than through a desktop or laptop computer presents supplemental challenges and variables in addition to the challenges associated with computer digital inclusion. These can range from service providers in smartphones to non-standard user-interfaces and browsers. Hence, the vast majority (nearly 91%) of all digital literacy initiatives studied utilize computers with Internet access as the primary digital connectivity tool. The benefit that computers provide over other forms of connectivity is that computers are relatively standard and thereby allow for digital literacy content to be tailored even more to computers as computers currently provide the most conventionally reliable, standard form of access to the Internet. (Hilding-Hamann, Nielsen, & Pedersen, Supporting Digital Literacy: Public Policies and Stakeholders' Initatives, Topic Report 1, 2009, p. 23)

Identifying digital inclusion and the areas lacking inclusion are integral to providing all individuals with access to the resources best suited to get them online. However, not all forms of digital inclusion are

equal, because certain population groups require hardware and programming that varies based upon their needs.

For example, in communities where senior citizens comprise a significant amount of the population, standard computers would not suffice in providing these individuals adequate access to the Internet. In such a case, additional aids such as larger screens, trackball mice, and larger, modified graphical user interfaces would be necessities in establishing an equal level of access to the Internet. In other communities, such as those where English is not the primary form of communication, modifications to the hardware and software may be required to allow all individuals to effectively access the Internet in a language familiar to them. This is particularly the case in globalized cities such as Hong Kong, where there are three predominant languages spoken and two writing systems used. Computer and Internet services provided only in one might exclude a significant number of individuals from accessing important health and government information. By providing customized content in a number of different languages, these groups of individuals can be digitally included and access all of the benefits that the Internet provides. (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, p. 129)

Physical and social access alone does not equal digital inclusion. Education about how to use computers and the Internet is integral to becoming a "digital citizen." Without this training, the users are effectively dropped into a situation that is tantamount to driving an automobile without driver's education: they will not know the risks, tips, and tricks to stay safe and drive a car efficiently and effectively. Indeed in some countries and regions, for example, the European Union, there are training programs that grant users a "Computer Driver's License." Similar to obtaining an automobile's driver's license, it ensures new users possess the minimum skills necessary to traverse the information superhighway, while not penalizing more experienced drivers. (ECDL Foundation, 2010)

# What is Digital Literacy?

Digital inclusion is only one-half of the issue at hand because computers and the Internet are useless without knowing how to effectively utilize them once connected. Digital literacy is an integral part of digital social equity that means the convergence of two aspects: it is the awareness of value of digital inclusion and the ability to effectively use computers and the Internet. This ability to use computers and the Internet requires mastery of a set of core competencies that enable the user to effectively evaluate the resources of the Internet and computers and to discern the quality of data, because the United States' Internet is generally unfiltered and editable by anyone. Digital literacy has become a core competency for almost all professions as well as being an integral part of being a global citizen. Those individuals who are digitally illiterate face increasingly insurmountable obstacles in conducting business, gathering research, or even communicating on a day-to-day business. Similar to providing supplemental resources for special-needs groups in terms of digital inclusion, additional focus and due diligence is necessary for ensuring that individuals who speak foreign languages, individuals who have disabilities, individuals who are uneducated, and individuals who are technology-adverse realize the value proposition that computers and the Internet can offer them. Digital inclusion in combination with digital literacy can create citizen empowerment that mitigates social unevenness and imbalance, facilitating digital social equity.

The implications of digital literacy are enormous: the value proposition of broadband-enabled education, including economic development, improved healthcare, adoption of 21<sup>st</sup> Century skills, and enhanced public safety are too significant to ignore. Digital literacy is crucial for individuals to begin to understand the value proposition that computers and the Internet can provide them. Far too often, computers have been donated to create computer labs in communities where the need is the greatest without the accompanying education and training of how to effectively use and maintain them. The

value of these computers is severely diminished because they cannot be utilized to their full potential. Consequently, with every installation of computers or technology hardware, it is essential that the providers establish education programs that teach individuals how to use the computers and Internet in a safe and effective way. When a more digitally literate society evolves, the potential for a knowledgebased economy, a more informed public and a more involved citizenry becomes reality. For many, particularly those who are disabled or elderly, digital literacy can result in a significant increase in social inclusion and social equity. Digital literacy today is essential for todays' and tomorrow's opportunities and citizenship. (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, p. 5)

# What is Broadband and how does it impact Digital Literacy and Digital

### **Inclusion**?

Today, the resources on the Internet are increasingly bandwidth intensive and this is a trend that will only continue in the future. Older dial-up speeds that use telephone-based modems no longer have the capacity to support all of the media and content available on the Internet. Even when services, such as e-health online initiatives become increasing available, a major impediment in integrating these resources into the communities that need them the most is connectivity Experts have agreed that future connectivity must be through broadband. (Broadband Commission, 2010, pp. 12-13)

The Federal Communications Commission defines broadband as "high-speed Internet access that is always on and faster than traditional dial-up access... providing higher-speed[s] of data transmission... and access to the highest quality of Internet services. While there is debate amongst engineers and policymakers about what data speeds constitute "broadband," what is clearly evident is that broadband plays a critical role in digital literacy and digital inclusion and that it must be robust, accessible, and affordable. (Federal Communications Commission, 2010) Broadband and computer access are crucial and public opinion is beginning to reflect the realized importance of this tool. In a global poll conducted by the BBC World Service, four out of five individuals surveyed considered Internet access a fundamental right. 78% said they feel it has brought them greater freedom, 90% say it is a good place to learn new things, and 51% say that they enjoy spending spare time on social networking sights connecting with friends and family. (British Broadcasting Corporation, 2010, pp. 1-2, 6) (Albanesius, 2010)

Crossing the digital divide is also a national challenge. The Internet was developed in the United States and first implemented within its borders. Americans feel that the Internet has given users greater freedom (85% compared to 78% worldwide) and that it is a resource that must be effectively allocated and protected. Some proactive national governments have gone so far as to make broadband a "legal right;" earlier this year, Finland proclaimed that every Finn should have the right to access a broadband connection. (British Broadcasting Corporation, 2010, p. 6) (BBC News, 2010)

A number of individuals agree that the ultimate end-goal of digital literacy and digital inclusion efforts is the creation of an information society, which is described as a society that "makes extensive use of information networks and information technology, produces large quantities of information and communication products, and services and has an industrial structure with diversified contents." Only through the rolling out of broadband infrastructure and digital literacy will we make progress towards this ideal by achieving digital social equity on the way. (Census and Statistics Department of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, 2009, p. Forward)

# How to Get People Online: the Six Most Important Next Steps to Increase Digital Literacy and Digital Inclusion in the United States

It is important that we expedite enacting the Adoption and Utilization recommendations established in the Federal Communications Commission's National Broadband Plan. The 360-page National Broadband Plan document contains approximately 200 policy proposals for the FCC, Congress, and other agencies to implement over the next decade. Chapter 9, Adoption and Utilization, is an integral component of the plan and while all of the policy proposals must be promptly and simultaneously addressed for the adoption and utilization issues to be enacted, this recommendation focuses solely on Chapter 9 of the National Broadband Plan. (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165-190)

#### 1. Create a Special Advisor to the President (Effectively, a National Broadband Czar)

The National Broadband Plan requires a champion that can help coordinate execution between the FCC, Congress, and the other agencies. Currently, the National Broadband Plan has no single leader to help coordinate and negotiate the plan through the normal partisanship that is part of the American political system and reflective of the conflicting priorities and objectives of the wide range of industries, companies, and special interests groups that this undertaking affects. When urgent and bold national initiatives are undertaken that require focus and coordination between Congress and various agencies, the President has often appointed special advisors so that a single entity, focus, and priority can be assigned. Beginning in 1933, President Franklin Roosevelt appointed 11 "czars," or individuals, some not requiring Congressional approval, to take leadership over an initiative. Subsequently, every American President has appointed "czars." President Bush had 32 individuals with "czar" titles and since 1939, President Obama has appointed 39. If there is an initiative that requires coordination and is of important national consequence, Presidents have used "czars" to provide programs an important focus during the last 75 years. It is recommended that a special advisor to the President be created to facilitate the legislative and execution process. (FactCheck.org, 2010) (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165-190)

### 2. A Digital Inclusion Cost/Benefit Analysis Should be Conducted to Maximize Taxpayer ROI

Broadband adoption is naturally increasing, but the Government Accountability Office or a similar nonpartisan government entity should conduct a cost/benefit projection to estimate a taxpayer return on investment for all components of the proposal.

America's current deficit is unsustainable, according to current Treasury Secretary Timothy F. Geithner, but taxpayer investments in broadband may be able to be made that will ultimately reduce the deficit. As an example, the electronic filing of personal income taxes was enacted to increase government efficiency and reduce government processing costs. Digital inclusion and digital literacy initiatives that cost effectively maximize the numbers of individuals that enjoy the benefits of broadband while will increase national security and competitiveness in the global economy. Software companies, such as SAP, provide ROI applications that analyze public programs. The President, Congress, and the American public are becoming increasingly concerned about the long-term effect of our current and projected Federal fiscal deficit. However, some government tax monies, such as the NASA program. While it may be difficult to precisely quantify every aspect of broadband adoption, this type of analysis and vetting will help provide bipartisan support, public support, and be fiscally healthy for the country. (NASA, 2010) (Zumbrun, 2010) (SAP, 2010)

# 3. The FCC should continue its public outreach strategy

The FCC should continue its strategy of public outreach used to formulate the National Broadband Plan by engaging the public in its execution through the establishment of a broadband adoption and use working and/or advisory groups. To date, the FCC's implementation of the National Broadband Plan has effectively engaged the public via continuing their use of Requests for Information (RFI). While this was one of the important components of engaging the public and obtaining their feedback to help vet the strategies and tactics of the National Broadband Plan's formation, increased ongoing substantive support representing the diverse public interests are necessary now that most of the authors of the National Broadband Plan have completed their engagement, left the FCC, and returned to the private sector. Since many of the architects of the National Broadband Plan represented a broad coalition of subject matter experts, the FCC has fewer resources available on staff now that the important execution phase of all recommendations has commenced, including those that focus on broadband adoption and use. There is a well-established precedence of engaging subject matter experts to serve on advisory committees with the purpose of providing input to public officials, including an Internet Policy Working Group that was established by former FCC Chairman Powell, the FCC/NARUC/NASUCA Working Group on Lifeline and Link-Up and the Universal Service Working Group established by current FCC Chairman Genachowski. In fact, Recommendation 9.8 in the National Broadband Plan's Adoption and Use chapter recommends a Broadband Accessibility Working Group to maximize broadband adoption by people with disabilities. These working groups should be expanded, as may be reasonable. Recommendation 9.9 proposes an Accessibility and Information Forum. While forums are useful to the extent that they expand the public dialogue, increase the public's knowledge of the plan, and provide additional input to the FCC and others working to execute the National Broadband Plan, they provide snapshots of information and lack the continuity of a working group. It is recommended that the working adoption and use working groups be project based and terminate once the task is completed, but one or more broadband adoption and use standing working group be established to provide input on a more macro, high level basis, and continuing basis. (Federal Communications Commission, 2005) (Federal Communications

Commission, 2006) (Engebretson, 2010) (Federal Communications Commission, 2010) (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165-190)

# 4. Review of International Digital Literacy and Digital Inclusion Programs and International Broadband Plans

Chapter 9, the National Broadband Plan's Adoption and Use section, contained 165 endnotes. Only one endnote, submitted by Net Literacy, a digital literacy and digital inclusion NGO, referenced the broadband adoption and use works performed by an organization outside of the United States (see Endnote 80 that referenced the European Union's Commission on Digital Inclusion). Subsequent to Net Literacy's filing and the release of the National Broadband Plan, Net Literacy has visited Hong Kong and South Africa and has met with subject matter experts from Australia, the United Kingdom, South Africa, and India to discuss digital inclusion and broadband adoption. Net Literacy has also reviewed other national broadband plans and reviewed in detail, the broadband and adoption surveys and good practices in Hong Kong. Some of these good practices are applicable to or can be modified to meet America's broadband adoption and digital inclusion requirements, in Net Literacy's opinion. To help facilitate the inclusion of international best practices by America and for the international community, Net Literacy launched a Digital Literacy "best practices" beta website. The website was endorsed by International Internet Industry Alliance (IIIA), which also includes the Internet Industry Association of Singapore, the African Internet Industry Association (AfrISPA), and the European Internet Service Providers Association (EuroISPA). Net Literacy was invited to join the IIIA as the first member whose organization focus was on digital inclusion and digital literacy. While the beta version of the site is at www.digitalliteracy.org, a production version with enhanced functionality and look and feel will be launched shortly. Consequently, all nations can learn about digital literacy and digital inclusion by reviewing the good practices of other programs. (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165190) (Net Literacy, 2010) (Hilding-Hamann, Nielsen, & Pedersen, Supporting Digital Literacy: Public Policies and Stakeholders' Initatives, Topic Report 2, 2009) (International Internet Industry Alliance, 2010) (Internet Industry Association of Singapore (IIAS), 2010) (AfrISPA, 2010) (EuroISPA, 2010) (Net Literacy, 2010)

#### 5. The Recommendations should be prioritized, have an ROI, and a completion timetable

The recommendations in the Adoption and Use Chapter should be prioritized, costs and benefits projected and quantified with an ROI, and a timetable established for their review and execution that incorporates the other components of the National Broadband Plan. This recommendation is contingent upon and incorporates components of 1. Create a Special Advisor to the President (Effectively, a National Broadband Czar), 2. A Digital Inclusion Cost/Benefit Analysis Should be Conducted to Maximize Taxpayer ROI, 3. The FCC should continue its public outreach strategy, and 4. Review of International Digital Literacy and Digital Inclusion Programs and International Broadband Plans, and while this recommendation is limited to the Adoption and Use chapter, a similar organization may be appropriate to help prioritize and execute recommendations in other chapters. Most significantly, a project management plan (e.g., Program Evaluation Review Techniques (PERT), the Critical Path Method (CPM), or another project management planning tool) should be used to determine the critical path items that should be considered when implementing and executing the plan. Costs of implementing the entire National Broadband Plan range from \$20 billion to \$350 billion – and the enormous spread of these estimates together with the magnitude of costs require the quantification of costs and prioritization of components of the plan as recommended in this section. Unless quantitative analysis is completed, America will continue to spend money on a project without an understanding of its total cost and unable to estimate a ROI on taxpayer dollar investments. (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165-190) (Paul, 2010) (Wuorio, 2010)

Compounding the challenge of estimating the costs of merely extending broadband to those households without service are additional complex technology and broadband capacity impactful questions. A study conducted by the State of Wyoming indicated that the per customer mean upfront capital costs to serve the average household ranged on a terrestrial basis ranged from a high of \$18,932 (cable) to \$4,570 (telco) to \$1,324 (fixed wireless). However, some technologies, such as fixed wireless, have more significant bandwidth constraints and the price projections cited do not include upgrading wireless to meet the FCC minimum bandwidth standards stated in the National Broadband Plan (a goal of implementing 100 Megabits per second broadband connections in 100 million American households by 2020 – or the "100 Squared Initiative"). (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165-190) (Paul, 2010) (CostQuest Associates, 2006)

#### 6. Funding Broadband Adoption and Use as a component of the National Broadband Plan.

Once the aforementioned five recommendations have been addressed or are being implemented, the issue of funding sources, cost of implementation, and prioritization of implementation should be addressed. Digital inclusion is a national problem and the National Broadband Plan was written to address broadband adoption and use from a national perspective and basis. From a funding perspective, incremental programs that address the national digital literacy challenge must be funded on a national basis since generally, nonprofits, businesses, local government, and state government does not have the incremental resources necessary to effectively address this issue in a consistent manner across the country. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act has already set aside \$7.2 billion for nationwide broadband deployment, and current estimates put the total cost of the FCC's nationwide broadband plan between \$20 and \$350 billion -- an enormous spread. (Paul, 2010)

While there are hundreds of nonprofits and other organizations whose mission includes increasing digital inclusion and digital literacy, most are local and community based organizations. Thousands of

other nonprofits have missions that are more effectively accomplished when their members are digitally literate, but many nonprofits do not have the resources or the capacity to accept additional projects. Most business' interest in digital inclusion is indirect: a digitally literate workforce is often required to provide a competitive product, but the hiring process often ensures only qualified applicants are accepted. Some businesses have an excellent track record giving back to the communities they serve, but increasing digital inclusion and digital literacy are only one of many worthy initiatives where needs significantly exceed requirements. Generally, local and state governments are experiencing increasing fiscal pressures as a result of declining tax revenues. Often times, municipalities most impacted by budgetary shortfalls are where the digital divide is the greatest and as a result have limited resources to address these issues. Consequently, the funding to execute the adoption and use recommendations must come from the Federal Government. Funding resources are required at the national, state, and local levels. (Gopal, 2009) (National Public Radio, 2000) (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165-190) (McClure, 2009) (Kent & McClure, Digital Inclusion: Bringing the Rest of America Online With Broadband, 2009) (Paul, 2010)

#### (a) National Funding With National Implementation.

Since increasing adoption, use, digital inclusion, and digital literacy are national problems, some issues can most effectively be addressed on a national basis, despite the budgetary and fiscal constraints being experienced at the national level. Increasing awareness of broadband's value proposition should be approached from both a national "top down" (as well as a local "bottom up") campaign, as discussed in Net Literacy's Request for Information filing. (Government Accountability Office, 2010) (Kent, Reply Comments of Net Literacy Corporation, 2009)

As an example, targeted media information or PSAs can reinforce the value proposition of broadband and overcome the objections to broadband by populations groups with low broadband penetration. A Net Literacy Safe Connects program hosted on the Indianapolis Public School's website in December 2010 has received significant state acclaim. Comcast Cable and Bright House Networks, Indiana's two largest cable operators, have agreed to carry the 30 minute Internet safety video on their "local on demand" service on cable systems throughout Indiana. In accordance with Indiana General Assembly House Resolution 095 which encourages Public, Education, and Government (PEG) Channels to carry Safe Connects programming, these cable operators that serve over 80% of Indiana's cable customers will coordinate carriage of this programming on the PEG Channels in their franchise footprint. Internet safety is the primary reason that 12% of Americans do not subscribe to broadband. Through mass media programs such as this but on a national basis, adoption objections can be overcome and the Internet can become a safer place for existing broadband customers. Net Literacy and Indiana is the only state where such an initiative exists, and an Internet safety awareness campaign would be most effectively coordinated throughout the country on a national rather than a state or local basis. (Indiana General Assembly, 2009) (IPS Tube, 2010) (Net Literacy, 2010)

Examples of other programs that increase broadband adoption and use require national implementation and coordination include the recommended national digital literacy website or defining the universal broadband service offering, recommend in the Plan. The national digital literacy site will have national, state, and local contributors, but it will be most efficient a single national single source best practices website is maintained. (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165-190)

Another example is the universal broadband service recommend in the National Broadband Plan. When determining the pricing of the service, qualifications necessary to receive the service, and establishing other criteria, those individuals in population groups with low broadband adoption groups should be treated fairly, consistently, and on a basis that consider adoption and use as a national rather than state or local challenge. (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165-190)

#### (b) National Funding With State Implementation.

\$7.2 billion of the \$787 billion in the economic stimulus package was allocated to broadband, which included adoption programs but primarily focused on middle mile, plant, and wireless infrastructure construction. As an example, the Broadband Technology Opportunity Program (BTOP) awarded money on a national basis, the programs were vetted and prioritized by committees established in each state as part of the national vetting and prioritization process. Since states have a more detailed and may have a different perspective of their needs compared to the federal government, they were included as a component of the gualification and prioritization process. States can most effectively help allocate resources to communities since their perspective is more local and more detailed when compared to the federal government. While some states may prefer to have more control over the funding allocated in their state, it is my recommendation that states' primarily responsibility be to help coordinate and manage digital inclusion and digital literacy efforts within the state in accordance with the National Broadband Plan and based upon the priorities resulting from execution of the suggestions in the above, 5. The Recommendations should be prioritized, have an ROI, and a completion timetable States should also be responsible for overseeing the effective execution of the local implementations. Most states do not have the financial strength to assume additional funding mandates, so it is recommended that Federal dollars be used for implementation and states be allowed to contribute

additional monies if their situation permits. (Amadeo, 2010) (National Telecommunications and Information Administration, 2010) (Paul, 2010) (McNichol, Oliff, & Johnson, 2010)

#### (c) National Funding With Local Implementation.

Net Literacy has argued that digital inclusion and digital literacy can be most effectively executed on a local and street-by-street basis in its filings with the FCC. The three most resource intensive

components of digital literacy are purchasing computer hardware, paying reoccurring broadband connectivity service fees and providing digital inclusion and digital literacy training. One challenge is that publically available cost estimates do not exist. Consequently and for the purpose of this thesis, assumptions were made and costs were estimated to create the basis of a local cost hypothesis necessary to increase digital inclusion and digital literacy at the local level regarding hardware, training, and broadband costs.<sup>1</sup> (Kent & McClure, Digital Inclusion: Bringing the Rest of America Online With Broadband, 2009) (Kent, Reply Comments of Net Literacy Corporation, 2009)

#### **Estimating Costs**

While the National Broadband Plan's implementation cost has been estimated, costs estimate to execute the digital inclusion and digital literacy component has either not been calculated or the information has not been made publically available. Cost is an important component of assessing the ROI of the National Broadband Plan, and with limited information, I believe it to be a useful exercise to gain an appreciation of the order of magnitude of the digital inclusions component. Until completing this estimate, I did not know if it would cost \$1 billion or \$10 billion to complete this component. It should be noted that in deriving this cost estimate, I used the digital literacy corps model proposed in the National Broadband Plan and the cost estimates are designed only to provide the readers a sense of what the cost could be based upon two sets of assumptions. The four sections below are (i) assumptions used to estimate the financial order of magnitude using two digital inclusion scenarios, (ii)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Please note that these are estimates based upon Net Literacy experience and the use of data and analysis that are footnoted. Testing the assumptions is outside the scope of this thesis, but this exercise was necessary to gain an appreciation of the order of magnitude of digital literacy and digital inclusion costs.

purchasing computer hardware, (iii) paying reoccurring broadband connectivity service fees and (iv) providing digital inclusion and digital literacy training. (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165-190)

A December 2008 Nielsen study estimated that 19.4% of American households did not have a computer at home. A 2009 Child Trends Data Bank study found that 90% of all children have computers at home.<sup>2</sup> No technology product will receive 100% penetration, just as Pew research approximates that 2% of all American households do not have any form of fixed or wireless telephone service in their home (2.3 million households and as of 2010). As previously discussed in this paper, 10% of all American households do not subscribe to a multichannel video provider (11.5 million households). (Nielsen Company, 2008) (Pew Research Center for the People & the Press, 2010) (Child Trends Databank, 2010)

# (1) Assumptions Used to Estimate the Financial Order of Magnitude Using Two Digital

# **Inclusion Scenarios**

For the purposes of estimating the number of individuals requiring digital literacy training and the associated costs, it was assumed that 18% of all 115 million American households do not have a computer at home in 2010, 5%<sup>3</sup> of all households would not be interested in a home computer under

- <sup>3</sup> Research is required to project the requirements and an estimate and assumptions were used since no publically
- available data exists. The 5% estimate used to quantify computer costs was derived analyzing information

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Note: this has not been Net Literacy's experience working with the Indianapolis Public School system (87% on free or reduced lunch programs) and where surveys at five elementary schools indicate that 32% of families have a working computer at home – consequently, local variations in demand may be significant.

regarding the 2% and 10% of households that do not subscribe to telephone or a multichannel service provider,

any circumstances, and 21% of the 13% of households do not subscribe to broadband because of costs, then approximately 3,139,000 households would require computers if, hypothetically, the National Broadband Plan were executed so that this group would receive computer hardware to overcome their cost objection. Please note the inaccuracies inherent in this overly simplistic analysis, and the purpose of the calculation is to merely estimate an order of magnitude for the cost implementing of this component of the National Broadband Plan. (U.S. Census Bureau, 1996)

### (II) Assumptions Used to Estimate the Purchasing of Computer Hardware

Estimating that the average cost of a computer would be \$250<sup>4</sup> (a personal computer with 2 gigabytes of RAM and a 250 gigabytes of storage, an office and antivirus application and an extended four year hardware warranty and a four year call center support contract) reflecting a reduced cost because of efficiencies likely in the bulk purchase of this magnitude of computers, it would cost \$785 million to purchase a computer for 3,139,000 households. This excludes costs required by special accommodations and hardware required for some population groups, such as the blind or those that are unable to use a keyboard. Computers are typically amortized over a three to four year period and for purposes of calculating a reoccurring cost, the net present value of future computer costs should be included in the calculation, but this is beyond the scope of this simple cost estimate.

respectively. 19.6% of households did not have a computer in 2008 and it is estimated that this number is 18% in 2010. (Pew Research Center for the People & the Press, 2010)

<sup>4</sup> The \$250 estimate is based upon discussions with the Indianapolis Public Schools that purchased 12,000 computers for their students in a competitive bidding process, and then further discounted because of the increased order of magnitude of this computer order. Information was provided to Net Literacy in confidence.

At \$25 per month for a limited universal service, the 3,139,000 households would require \$942 million in funding per year to pay for a form of universal broadband service. While it is expected that some of these reimbursements would be reduced or phased out over time, the \$942 million is the funding that would be required to provide a limited universal broadband service for purposes of this scoping cost estimate. It was assumed that installation and any required consumer premise equipment would be donated by the broadband provider in consideration for these incremental customers being charged on a bulk billing. While the actual monthly subscription cost would gradually decrease as non-adopters were trained to be digitally literate and were converted to paying all or a portion of their broadband costs, for purposes of establishing a running data point, the full cost was assumed in the estimate below.

The \$25 monthly cost of broadband was estimated as follows: it is difficult to determine the government's cost of providing broadband service to 3,139,000 households since existing costs are impacted by technology, the amount of competition in a market area, discounts associated with packaging or bundling with other products offered by the provider, and sales promotions. Also, I expected that broadband costs will increase as broadband providers significantly increase the bandwidth provided to consumers to comply with the standards described in the National Broadband Plan. The actual cost of providing broadband to 3,139,000 users in 50 states using a variety of technologies will calculated once an RFP process is completed. Also, the accounts on these universal service customers may be flagged to ensure that they receive a defined and enhanced level of customer service. Consequently, the \$25 per month is my best reasonable estimate given the many variables that have not yet been finalized. (Federal Communications Commission, 2010)

#### (III) Assumptions Used to Estimate the Reoccurring Broadband Connectivity Service Fees

The most difficult cost to estimate is the cost of teaching these population groups computer, Internet, and Internet safety skills, together with identifying their own personal value proposition so that they are not only digitally included, they are digitally literate. Costs range significantly depending upon assumptions. In Net Literacy's model, a Digital Literacy Corps of student volunteers provide the service at no cost and as a community service. The National Broadband Plan cites Net Literacy's Digital Literacy Corps as an example, but it leaves open if the program would be based on another model such as AmeriCorps or another public service model. Also, there are other models that should be considered and may be more appropriate for working with selected population groups with low broadband penetration. (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165-190) (Kent & McClure, Digital Inclusion: Bringing the Rest of America Online With Broadband, 2009)

At the low cost end of the spectrum is an enhanced version of the Net Literacy model. It would be comprised of a national Digital Literacy Corps that utilizes the 30 million high school and college students (many of which have school district mandated community service requirements). Some funding would be required to teach and recognize nonprofit adult volunteers that helped coordinate the program, and it is contemplated that there would be a level of paid administrators so that the program is effectively coordinated on a national basis and within local communities. Net Literacy's existing model partners with local nonprofits that have members that are included in population groups with low broadband penetration and is all volunteer, but this may not be quickly scalable on a national basis. (Net Literacy, 2010)

While 3,139,000 households require a computer and broadband and the average home has 2.53 occupants, determining who requires digital literacy training is far more complex and nuanced than a simple mathematical equation. As an example, some individuals in homes that have a computer and broadband access are not digital literate. Other individuals in households without a computer and broadband at home are digitally literate and use computers at libraries, work, or the homes or friends or family to access the Internet. Also, every year, the number of individuals that are digitally literate

continue to increase, even without a national coordinated digital literacy initiative. Part of the increase in broadband penetration is a result of senior citizens passing due to old age (a population group with low broadband adoption) and being replaced by digital natives (that are a population group with high broadband adoption rates). Net Literacy has proposed in its second FCC filing that additional research is required to better understand and effectively target the digitally excluded. But the digital literacy corps program will accelerate digital inclusion conversion and also help increase the skills of those that are only partly digitally literate. Net Literacy believes that there is an opportunity cost for individuals that are not digitally literate – and consequently, facilitating digital inclusion is a necessary and important national initiative. The major advantage of a concerted effort to increase digital inclusion and digital literacy set the speed of conversions to digital literate and digitally included individuals (Kent, Reply Comments of Net Literacy Corporation, 2009) (Net Literacy Alliance, 2010) (Kent & McClure, Digital Inclusion: Bringing the Rest of America Online With Broadband, 2009)

Net Literacy has also identified a social component to creating a broadband value proposition, and as more individuals come online, social pressure is increased for non-adopters to become digitally literate. This also will serve as a catalyst to naturally increase broadband adoption. (Kent & McClure, Digital Inclusion: Bringing the Rest of America Online With Broadband, 2009) (Kent, Reply Comments of Net Literacy Corporation, 2009)

Also, some individuals in population groups with low broadband penetration will need additional accommodations, such as the illiterate, the disabled, or even those that speak English as a Second Language (ENL) and will require additional assistance to understand how digital inclusion can empower them in the context of American society. (Kent, Reply Comments of Net Literacy Corporation, 2009)

# (IV) Assumptions Used to Estimate the Costs of Providing Digital Inclusion and Digital Literacy Training

For purposes of this exercise of scoping potential costs of local digital inclusion and digital literacy efforts, I assumed that 8 million Americans require either computer or computer and Internet training and the objective is to train 8 million Americans in four years (or 2 million per year). The 8 million estimated was derived by assuming that one person in the 3,139,000 households would require training (3.1 million), one person in 3% of America's remaining 112 million households would require training (3.4 million), and approximately 25% of the households that do not have access to broadband will require training once broadband becomes available (1.5 million). The National Broadband Plan estimates that approximately 4% of America's households do not have access to broadband (5.7 million households). (Federal Communications Commission, 2010, pp. 165-190)

# Digital Inclusion Program Scenarios:

# Scenario One

An enhanced Net Literacy digital literacy corps student volunteer model working through existing nonprofits and schools coordinate by teachers and a paid staff.

- Team 250,000 high school and college student volunteers receiving an average of \$100 in pizza and \$100 gift cards = \$50 million/year
- Leadership 8,333 teacher or nonprofit "volunteers" receiving an average of \$1000 in expenses, gift cards, and recognition = \$8.3 million/year
- Leadership paid 1,000 individuals earning \$40,000 per year = \$40 million/year
- Number of individuals trained per student volunteer: 8 digitally excluded individuals trained per student team member per year (excludes leadership)

 Total costs are \$98 million/year or \$49/person trained (note: excludes supplies, transportation, training materials, and other expenses), and an estimate for these is included in the calculations below.

### Scenario Two

A Digital Literacy Corps compensated of a size similar to AmeriCorps and compensated on the same basis as AmeriCorps employees working through existing nonprofits and schools coordinated by a paid staff.

- Team 43,000 individuals earning \$15,000 per year (salary and education award) = \$645 million/year
- Leadership 4,000 individuals earning \$40,000 per year = \$160 million/year
- Number of individuals trained per team member: 46 digitally excluded individuals trained per team member per year (excludes leadership)
- Total costs are \$805 million/year or \$402 in costs per person trained
- Cost per individual trained = \$402/person trained (note: excludes supplies, transportation, training materials, and other expenses) and an estimate for these is included in the calculations below.
  (Northern Arizona University, 2010)

# Digital Inclusion and Digital Literacy Costs for Training 8 Million Americans:

 \$784 million – computer hardware costs (\$196 million per year) assuming no net present value for future computer hardware costs or the incremental costs necessary for those individuals with disabilities.

- \$942 million universal broadband service costs on an annual basis once all targeted households are online (cost estimates below project 25% in year one, 50% in year two, 75% in year three, and 100% in year for of the annual \$942 million to be incurred).
- \$98 million to \$805 million per year for training costs, limiting the cost estimates to the two digital literacy corps cost scenarios.
- \$200 million in training materials, transportation costs, and other associated costs per year since insufficient information exists to accurately calculate the expenses
- Based upon these assumptions, the four year costs to provide equipment, broadband, and digital literacy training range from \$4.3 billion to \$7.1 billion (or from \$538 to \$888 per American trained and broadband enabled).

It should be noted that Net Literacy's digital literacy corps model contemplates utilizing computer labs in schools and public labs in nonprofits. At Net Literacy, costs to build or expand computer labs at schools, community centers, churches, and other nonprofits have been modest. Since Net Literacy receives its computers as donations and enjoys licensing discounts from Microsoft, using student volunteers, Net Literacy has provided approximately 11,000 computers within the central Indiana area during the last three years at an average cost of \$12.60. This includes transportation, refurbishing, warehouse, facility, licensing, and pizza costs. (Net Literacy, 2010)

In early 2010, Honorary Board Member Lt. Governor Becky Skillman asked Net Literacy to begin a program that focused computer donations in more rural areas of the state. The program commenced in March and working with the Indiana Association of United Ways, 525 computers have been donated to 17 United Ways serving 18 counties and providing computers to build or expand computer labs in 95 agencies. An additional 145 computers are ready for a January 2011 delivery that will provide computers to two additional United Ways serving five Indiana counties. Because Net Literacy uses a Department of Transportation approved moving company to deliver the computers and conducts additional quality assurance programs on these computers, costs are higher and average approximately \$27.00 per delivered computer. In 2010, the 95 United Way agencies served over 28,000 Hoosiers, and consequently, the costs to equip nonprofits is relatively modest. It has been Net Literacy's experience that nonprofits that do not have a computer lab are willing to purchase the wireless local area networking equipment and broadband to receive the donated equipment, with no only one agency (a preschool) rejecting the broadband connection requirement, which Net Literacy waived. Consequently, partnering with nonprofits is inexpensive and since it supports the nonprofits' missions, they are an efficient and effective training location to help teach digital literacy. (Net Literacy Alliance, 2010) (Net Literacy, 2010)

In conclusion, if non adopters that are digitally illiterate and digitally excluded can receive training, a computer, and broadband for less than \$1,000 per person, how much is that worth the digitally literate consumer? From the consumer's perspective, the Internet Innovation Alliance estimated that the average person saves \$7,707 when shopping online (with entertainment, travel, housing, food, and apparel accounting for the majority of the savings). The amount saved by a consumer would depend upon their disposable income and purchasing habits, but an argument can be made that those individuals that shop or use the Internet to search when making purchasing decisions do save some amount of money if they have access to an online service. A consumer's individual ROI may become part of each individual's value proposition, and this calculation may help provide our national leadership with the ROI calculation outlined in 5. The Recommendations should be prioritized, have an ROI, and a completion timetable

(Internet Innovation Alliance, 2010)

# Conclusion

"Digital empowerment refers to the ability to use the wealth of resources in computing and the Internet to learn, communicate, innovate, and enhance wealth—to move from being a digital novice to a digital professional or innovator. An effective Digital Inclusion Strategy provides a path to full participation in Digital Society... People also have to understand that the Digital Economy is moving forward and that digital literacy and access is your ticket." –Karen Archer Perry, Founder and Principal Consultant, Karacomm (Microsoft Corporation, 2007, pp. 3-10)

While much digital inclusion and digital literacy work has been accomplished, much work remains. Millions of individuals on the wrong side of the digital divide are missing out on the richness and promise that access to broadband provides. Digital inclusion and digital literacy leverage technology so that many of the underserved are able to breakout out of a cycle of poverty and gain digital social equity through this process.

Digital Literacy is constantly evolving; such rapid growth is a sign of its success. While the statistics published in this paper might soon be out-of-date; the tried-and-true methods and best practices outlined will continue to serve as models that are proven to be scalable and replicable throughout many communities.

Although digital literacy and digital inclusion programs are expensive, the costs associated with digital exclusion are astronomical. It is a global economic and social equity that the target groups of individuals who need the most digital literacy training receive the resources that will enable them to become digital citizens. With digital literacy skills becoming a requisite condition to employability across an increasing number of occupations, failure to include these individuals will become more than just a disservice to future generations, it will become a crisis. Further, those on the wrong side of the digital divide will be

increasingly excluded from the richness and resources that individuals, businesses, and governments are placing online. Digital inclusion creates digital social equity and digital literacy is the most efficiency way of impacting this social paradigm.

# **Works Cited**

(15th Edition). Indianapolis. In *The New Encyclopaedia Brittanica* (p. Book 6 Page 291 Section 3b). London.

Technology Stimulus Plan: Paved with good intentions. (2009, January 31). The Economist, p. 71.

AfrISPA. (2010). Retrieved December 10, 2010, from AfrISPA: http://www.afrispa.org/

Broadband stimulus: Not so fast. (2010, January 31). The Economist, p. 18.

Afterschool Alliance. (2010). *Afterschool Alliance*. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from Afterschool Alliance: http://www.afterschoolalliance.org/

Albanesius, C. (2010, March 08). *Study: Internet Access is a Universal Right*. Retrieved September 10, 2010, from PCMagazine: http://www.pcmag.com/article2/0,2817,2361092,00.asp

Alliance for Excellent Education. (2007). *Issue Brief: The High cost of High School Dropouts.* Washington, DC: Alliance for Excellent Education.

Amadeo, K. (2010, November 16). *Economic Stimulus Package*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from About.Com:

http://useconomy.about.com/od/candidatesandtheeconomy/a/Obama\_Stimulus.htm

America's Promise Alliance. (2009). Grad Nation Summit. Washington DC.

Associated Press. (2010, February 23). FCC survey shows need to teach broadband basics. *The* Associated Press, pp. 1-2.

Associated Press. (2010, February 23). FCC survey shows need to teach broadband basics. The

Associated Press, pp. 1-2.

- Atkinson, R. D. (2008, December 23). The Right Broadband stimulus Package. *The Huffington Post*, pp. 1-3.
- Atkinson, R. D., Castro, D., & Ezell, S. J. (2009). *The Digtial road to Recovery: A Stimulus Plan to Create Jobs, Boot Productivity and Revitalize America.* Washington, D.C.: The Information Technology & Innovation Foundation.

BBC News. (2010, July 1). Finland makes broadband a 'legal right'. The BBC News, pp. 1-3.

- Beltran, D. O., Das, K. K., & Fairlie, R. W. (November 2008). Hoem Computers and Educational Outcomes: Evidence from the NLSY97 and CPS. Washington, D.C.: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
- Boeltzig, H., & Pilling, D. (2007). *Bridging the Digital Divide for Hard-to-Reach Groups.* IBM Center for the Business of Government.
- Bradley, T. (2010, September 02). FCC Takes Net Neutrality to court of Public Opinion (Again). *PCWorld*, pp. 1-4.
- British Broadcasting Corporation. (2010). *Four in Five Regard Internet Access as a Fundamental Right: Global Poll.* London: The British Broadcasting Corporation.
- Broadband Commission. (2010). *A 2010 Leadership Imperative: The Futrue Built on Broadband*. New York City: The International Telecommunication Union and UNESCO.
- Broadband Commission. (2010). *Broadband: A Platform for Progress.* New York City: The International Telcommunications Union.

- Broadband For America. (2010). *Broadband For America*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Broadband For America: http://www.broadbandforamerica.com/
- Census and Statistics Department of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. (2009). *Hong Kong as an Information Society 2009 Edition.* Hong Kong: Census and Statistics Department of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
- Census and Statistics Department, Special Administrative Region of Hong Kong. (2009). *Thematic Household Survey Report No. 43.* Hong Kong: Census and Statistics Department.
- Cheng, J. Y., & Shiping, G. (2008). *Shenzen and Hong Kong: Competitiveness and Co-operation in Technology*. Hong Kong: City University of Hong Kong.
- Cheng, K. (2009). *Mobile Government Development in Hong Kong SAR*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from World e-Governments Organization of Cities and Local Government: http://www.wegov.org/presentFile/Session%201-1\_Hong%20Kong\_3.pdf
- Child Trends Databank. (2010, June). *Home Computer Access and Internet Use*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Child Trends Databank: http://www.childtrendsdatabank.org/?q=node/298
- Cisco. (2010, August 26). *Home Wireless a Must-Have this Back to School*. Retrieved October 23, 2010, from Cisco: http://home.cisco.com/en-us/press/releases/RELEASE\_LINKSYS\_082610
- City-Data.com. (2010). *Top 100 biggest cities*. Retrieved November 15, 2010, from City-Data.com: http://www.city-data.com/top1.html
- Community Connects. (2010). *http://communityconnects.org/*. Retrieved November 11, 2010, from http://communityconnects.org/: http://communityconnects.org/

- Community Development Law Center. (2010). *Community Development Law Center*. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from Community Development Law Center: http://cdlawcenter.org/
- Computer Connects. (2010). *Computer Connects*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Computer Connects: http://www.computerconnects.org/
- Computers for Youth. (2010). *Computers for Youth*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Computers for Youth: http://www.cfy.org/
- Cooper, M. (Janurary 2010). The Challegne of Digital Exclusion in America: A Review of the Social Science Literature and Its Implications for the U.S. National Broadband Plan. Washington, D.C.: Consumer Federation of America.

Corbin, K. (2009, January 28). Broadband Stimulus Could Top \$9 Billion. *Wi-Fi Planet*, pp. 1-2.

- CostQuest Associates. (2006). *Costs and Benefits of Universal Broadband Access in Wyoming.* Cincinnati, Ohio: CostQuest Associates.
- Crandall, M., & Fisher, K. E. (2009). *Digital Inclusion: Measuring the Impact of Information and Community Technology*. Medford, New Jersey: Information Today, Inc.
- Dailey, D., Bryne, A., Powell, A., Karaganis, J., & Chung, J. (2010). *Broadband Adoption in Low Income Communities.* Washington, D.C.: The Social Science Research Council.
- Daily Wireless. (2007). *Most Connected Cities*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from Daily Wireless: http://www.dailywireless.com/features/most-connected-cities-030607/

Department of Agriculture. (2007). 2007 Census of Agriculture. The U.S. Department of Agriculture.

- Department of Agriculture. (2009). *Rural Broadband At A Glance 2009 Edition*. Washington, D.C.: The United States Department of Agriculture.
- Department of Commerce. (1995, July). FALLING THROUGH THE NET: A Survey of the "Have Nots" in Rural and Urban America. Retrieved October 23, 2010, from The National Telecommunications and Information Administration: http://www.ntia.doc.gov/ntiahome/fallingthru.html
- Department of Commerce. (1999). *Falling Through the Net: Defining the Digital Divide*. Retrieved October 23, 2010, from National Telecommunications and Information Administration: http://www.ntia.doc.gov/ntiahome/fttn99/
- Department of Commerce. (2000). *Falling Through the Net: Towards Digital Inclusion*. Washington, D.C.: The U.S. Department of Commerce.
- Department of Commerce. (2004). A Nation Online: Entering the Broadband Age. Washington, D.C.: The U.S. Department of Commerce.
- Department of Education, Indiana. (2010). *School Data*. Retrieved November 15, 2010, from Indiana Department of Education: http://mustang.doe.state.in.us/SEARCH/snapcorp.cfm?corp=5385
- Digital Inclusion Forum. (2008). *Digital Inclusion Forum*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Digital Inclusion Forum: http://digitalinclusionforum.com/
- ECDL Foundation. (2010). *ECDL Foundation*. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from ECDL Foundation: http://www.ecdl.org/icdl/index.jsp
- Econsult Corporation and Digital Impact Group. (2010). *The Economic Impact of Digital Exclusion*. Philadelphia: Econsult Corporation.

- Engebretson, J. (2010, June 15). *New FCC Working Group to Tackle Universal Service Fund Reform*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Telecompetitor: http://www.telecompetitor.com/new-fccworking-group-to-tackle-universal-service-fund-reforms/
- Environmental Protection Agency. (2008). *Electronics Waste Management in the United States*. Washington, DC: Environmental Protection Agency.
- Estabrook, L., Witt, E., & Rainie, L. (2007). *Information searches that solve problems: How people use the internet, libraries, and government agencies when they need help.* Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American life Project.

EuroISPA. (2010). EuroISPA. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from EuroISPA: http://www.euroispa.org/

- FactCheck.org. (2010). *Czars Under the George W. Bush Administration and Czars Under the Obama Administration.* Washington, D.C.: The Annenberg Public Policy Center.
- Fairlie, R. W. (2003). *The Effects of Home Computers on School Enrollment.* Santa Cruz: The University of california, Santa Cruz.
- Farmer, L. S. (2005). *Digital inclusion, teens, and your library : exploring the issues and acting on them.* Westport, Connecticut: Libraries Unlimited.
- Federal Communications Commission. (2005, November 17). *Internet Policy Working Group*. Retrieved December 12, 2010, from Federal Communications Commission: http://www.fcc.gov/ipwg/
- Federal Communications Commission. (2005, November 21). Making the Connections . Retrieved November 25, 2010, from Federal Communications Commission: http://www.fcc.gov/omd/history/internet/making-connections.html

- Federal Communications Commission. (2006). *Report of the FCC/NARUC/NASUCA Working Group on Lifeline and Link-Up: "Lifeline Across America"*. Washington, D.C.: Federal Communications Commission.
- Federal Communications Commission. (2008). *Choosing Cable Channels.* Washington, DC: Federal Communications Commission.
- Federal Communications Commission. (2010). *Connecting America: The National Broadband Plan.* Washington, D.C.: The Federal Communications Commission.
- Federal Communications Commission. (2010). *Internet Access Services: Status as of June 30, 2009.* Washington, D.C.: The Federal Communications Commission.
- Federal Communications Commission. (2010). *What is Broadband?* Retrieved September 21, 2010, from Broadband.gov: http://www.broadband.gov/about\_broadband.html
- Fildes, J. (2010, September 2). UN reveals global disparity in broadband access. BBC News, pp. 1-5.
- Financial Connects. (2010). *Financial Connects*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Financial Connects: http://www.financialconnects.org/
- Frederickson, H. (1990). *Public Administration and Social Equity*. Washington, DC: Blackwell Publishing on behalf of the American Society for Public Administration.

Gilster, P. (1997). Digital Literacy. New York: Wiley Computer Publishing.

Gopal, P. (2009, February 4). *Nonprofits Scramble for Funding*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Bloomberg Businessweek:

http://www.businessweek.com/bwdaily/dnflash/content/feb2009/db2009023\_054458.htm

- Government Accountability Office. (2010, Feburary 26). U.S. Government's 2009 Financial Report Shows Significant Fiscal Challenges. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Government Accountability Office: http://www.gao.gov/press/financial\_report\_2010feb26.html
- Gruenwald, J. (2010, November 9). *Group Claims Broadband Users Save More*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from National Journal: http://techdailydose.nationaljournal.com/2010/11/group-claims-broadband-users-s.php

Hansell, S. (2009, February 23). Surprise: America is No. 1 in Broadband. New York Times, pp. 1-2.

- Hassett, K. A., & Shapiro, R. J. (2009). *Towards Universal Broadband: Flexible Broadband Pricing and the Digital Divide.* Washington, DC: Georgetown University McDonough School of Business.
- Heckman, J. J., & LaFontaine, P. A. (2007). *The American High School Graduation Rate: Trends and Levels.* Bonn, Germany: IZA.

Hesseldahl, A. (2008, December 31). Brining Broadband to the Urban Poor. BusinessWeek, pp. 1-3.

- Hilding-Hamann, K. E., Nielsen, M. M., & Pedersen, K. (2009). *Supporting Digital Literacy: Public Policies and Stakeholders' Initatives, Topic Report 1.* Copenhagen: The European Commission on Digital Inclusion and the Danish Technological Institute.
- Hilding-Hamann, K. E., Nielsen, M. M., & Pedersen, K. (2009). *Supporting Digital Literacy: Public Policies and Stakeholders' Initatives, Topic Report 2.* Copenhagen: The European Commission on Digital Inclusion and the Danish Technological Institute.
- Hilding-Hamann, K. E., Nielsen, M. M., & Pedersen, K. (2009). *Supporting Digital Literacy: Public Policies and Stakeholders' Initatives, Topic Report 3.* Copenhagen: The European Commission on Digital Inclusion and the Danish Technological Institute.

Hong Kong Internet Service Providers Association. (2008, March 18). *Hong Kong Internet Service Providers Association*. Retrieved October 10, 2010, from Hong Kong Internet Service Providers Association: http://www.hkispa.org.hk/

- Hong Kong Internet Service Providers Association. (2010). *Hong Kong Internet Service Providers Association*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Hong Kong Internet Service Providers Association: http://www.hkispa.org.hk/
- Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. (2007). *Digital 21 Strategy: Continuing to Build on Our Strengths Through Technology Across the Community,* . Hong Kong: Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
- Hong Kong Speical Administrative Region. (2010). *Digital 21 Strategy*. Retrieved October 10, 2010, from Info.Gov.HK: http://www.info.gov.hk/digital21/eng/index.htm
- Horrigan, J. B. (2007). *Broadband: What's All the Fuss About?* Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American Life Project.
- Horrigan, J. B. (2007). Why We Don't Know Enough About Broadband in the U.S. Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American Life Project.
- Horrigan, J. B. (2008). *Home Broadband Adoption 2008.* Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American Life Project.
- Horrigan, J. B. (2009). *Obama's Online Opportunities II.* Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American Life Project.
- Horrigan, J. B. (2010). *Broadband Adoption and Use in America*. Washington, D.C.: Federal Communications Commission.

Horrigan, J. B. (Why it will Be Hard to Close the Broadband Divide). *U.S. Lags behind*. Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American Life Project.

Hung, W., & Quat, E. (2010, June 28). Internet Professional Association. (D. Kent, Interviewer)

Indiana Barrister. (2007, April 15). *Abandoned Homes = Abandoned Future?* Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Indiana Barrister:

http://www.indianabarrister.com/archives/2007/04/abandoned\_homes\_abandoned\_futu.html

- Indiana Department of Education. (2010). *Internet Saftey Resources*. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from Indiana Department of Education: http://www.doe.in.gov/isssa/safety\_resources.html
- Indiana General Assembly. (2009). *House Resolution 0095*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Indiana General Assembly:

http://www.in.gov/apps/lsa/session/billwatch/billinfo?year=2009&session=1&request=getBill& docno=0095&doctype=HR

- Indiana Recycling Coalition. (2010). *Indiana Recycling Coalition*. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from Indiana Recycling Coalition: http://www.indianarecycling.org/
- Indianapolis Public Schools. (2010). *About IPS*. Retrieved November 15, 2010, from Indianapolis Public Schools: http://www.about.ips.k12.in.us/index.php?id=3058
- Information Technology and Broadcasting Bureau. (November 1998). *Digital 21: Hong Kong Speical Administrative Region Information Technology Strategy*. Hong Kong Special Administrative Region: Information Technology and Broadcasting Bureau.
- Intel. (2010). *Intel World Ahead Program*. Retrieved October 10, 2010, from Intel Corporation: http://www.intel.com/about/companyinfo/worldahead/index.htm

Intel. (2010). Intel World Ahead Program - Executive Summary. Santa Clara, California: Intel Corporation.

Intel Corporation. (2005). Achieving Digital Inclusion: Government best Practice on Increasing Household Adoption of Computers. Santa Clara, California: Intel Corporation.

Intel Corporation. (2005). Government ICT Policy Primer. Santa Clara, California: Intel Corporation.

Intel Corporation. (2010). *The Intel World Ahead Program*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Intel: http://www.intel.com/about/companyinfo/worldahead/index.htm

Intel Corporation. (n.d.). *Intel World Ahead Program Fact Sheet*. Santa Clara, California: Intel Corporation.

Intel Corporation, Booz Allen Hamilton. (2005). *Enabling Worldwide Information Society - Assesing the Impact of Government Assisted PC Programs.* Santa Clara, California: Intel Corporation.

Intel World Ahead. (2009). *Connecting People to a World of Opportunity*. Santa Clara, California: Intel Corporation.

- Intel World Ahead. (2009). *The Economic Impact of Broadband: Best practices enable developing nations to reap economic benefits of broadband.* Santa Clara, California: Intel Corporation.
- Intel World Ahead. (2010). Intel Quick Guide to eLearning Programs: How to start integrating ICT in education for the 21st century. Santa Clara, California: Intel Corporation.

Intel World Ahead. (2010). *Realizing the Benefits of Broadband.* Santa Clara, California: Intel Corporation.

International Internet Industry Alliance. (2010). *International Internet Industry Alliance*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from International Internet Industry Alliance: http://www.iiialliance.net

- International Telecommunication Union. (2009). *Measruing the Information Society: The ICT Developmetn Index*. Geneva: International Telecuminication Union.
- International Telecommunication Union. (2010, September 19). World leaders agree: The future will be Built on Broadband. New York City, New York, The United States of America.
- Internet Industry Association of Singapore (IIAS). (2010). *Internet Industry Association of Singapore* (*IIAS*). Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Internet Industry Association of Singapore (IIAS): www.iias.com.sg

Internet Innovation Alliance. (2009). Broadband Fact Book. Internet Innovation Alliance.

- Internet Innovation Alliance. (2009). *Internet Innovation Alliance*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Internet Innovation Alliance: http://internetinnovation.org/factbook/category/education/
- Internet Innovation Alliance. (2010, November 9). Access to Broadband Internet: Top 10 Areas of Savings. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from Internet Innovation Alliance: http://www.internetinnovation.org/blog/entry/access-to-broadband-internet-top-10-areas-ofsavings/
- Internet Professional Association. (2005). *Annual Report 2005.* Hong Kong: The Hong Kong Internet Professional Association.
- Internet Professional Association. (2010). *Digital Cyber Centers*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Hong Kong Cyberport Management Company Limited: http://www.dcca.hk/
- Internet Professional Association. (2010). *Internet Professional Association*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Internet Professional Association: http://www.iproa.org/en/

- Internet Professional Association. (2010). *Useful Links*. Retrieved September 17, 2010, from Internet Professional Association: http://www.iproa.org/en/UsefulLink.asp
- Internet Professonal Association. (2010). *Annual Report 2009-2010*. Hong Kong: The Hong Kong Internet Professional Association.
- IPS Tube. (2010, January 12). 2010 Net Literacy Presentation. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from IPS Tube: http://ipstube.ips.k12.in.us/video/480/Net-Literacy

iWeek 2010. (2010). iWeek. Retrieved October 23, 2010, from iWeek: http://www.iweek.org.za/

- John S. and James L. Knight Foundation. (2010). *THe Knight Center for Digital Excellence*. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from The John S. and James L. Knight Foundation: http://www.knightfoundation.org/mii/universalaccess.dot
- Jones, S. (2009). *Pew Internet Project Data Memo*. Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American Life Project.
- Kang, C. (2010, August 12). Support for broadband loses speed as nationwide growth slows. *The Washington Post*, pp. 1-3.
- Kent, D. (2009). *Reply Comments of Net Literacy Corporation*. Washington, D.C.: The Federal Communications Commission.
- Kent, D. (2010). Net Literacy: "Empowering Youths to Help Make America Digital & Net Literate!". (pp. 1-16). Washington D.C.: Net Literacy Corporation.
- Kent, D. (22 June, 2010). Broadband for America: A Roadmap to Broadband Adoption. Washington, D.C.: US Internet Industry Association.

- Kent, D., & McClure, D. P. (2009). *Digital Inclusion: Bringing the Rest of America Online With Broadband.* Washington, D.C.: US Internet Industry Association.
- Kingsley, C. (2005). *City of Narrowing Shoulders and Big Ideas: Technology and Politics in Philadelphia*. Bryn Mawr, Pennsylvania: Bryn Mawr College. Growth and Structure of Cities Program, Advisor: Professor Gary W. McDonogh.

Lankshear, C., & Knobel, M. (2008). Digital Literacies: Concepts Policies. New York: Peter Lang.

- Lasar, M. (2010, September 3). We're trudging down the long road to universal 4Mbps broadband. *Ars Technica*, p. 1.
- Lau, R. (2010, September 28). *On the Record: HK aims to be digitally inclusive*. Retrieved October 10, 2010, from News.Gov.HK:

http://archive.news.gov.hk/en/record/html/2010/09/20100928\_113745.lin.shtml

LECG Ltd. (2009). Connectivity Scorecard 2009: United States. London: LECG Ltd.

- Lee, E. (2008). *Issue Brief: State Efforts to Expand Broadband Access.* Washington, D.C.: NGA Center for Best Practicies.
- Let's Talk Geek Episode 22. (2010, September 18). *LTG Episode 22: Catch 22*. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from Let's Talk Geek: http://vimeo.com/15063967
- Lyle, E. E. (2010). A Giant Leap & A Big Deal: Delivering on the Promise of Equal Access to Broadband for
  People With Disabilities OBI Working Paper Series No. 2. Washington, DC: Federal
  Communications Commission.

Manjoo, F. (2009, February 9). Tech for America. Slate, pp. 1-3.

- Marion County Commission on Youth. (2009). Indiana Dropout Prevention Summit: Hoosier Youth at the Crossroads.
- McClure, D. P. (2009). *Reply Comments of the United States Internet Industry Association ("USIIA") and Net Literacy.* Washington, D.C.: The Federal Communications Commission.

McDonogh, G., & Wong, C. (2005). *Global Hong Kong*. New York: Routledge.

- McNichol, E., Oliff, P., & Johnson, N. (2010, December 9). *States Continue to Feel Recession's Impact*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Center on Budget and Policy Priorities: http://www.cbpp.org/cms/?fa=view&id=711
- Microsoft Corporation. (2007). *Power Up: The Campaign for Digital Inclusion*. Redmond, Washington: Microsoft Corporation.
- Microsoft Corporation. (2010). *Digital Inclusion*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Microsoft: http://www.microsoft.com/industry/government/digitalinclusion.mspx

Moore, S. A. (2007). Alternative Routes to the Sustainable City. Lanham, Maryland: Lexington Books.

- NASA. (2010, December). *Measuring Return on Investment for Government Programs and Agencies: Program/Project Management Resource List #68*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from NASA Headquarters Library: http://www.hq.nasa.gov/office/hqlibrary/ppm/ppm68.htm
- National Cable and Telecommunications Association. (n.d.). *History of Cable Television*. Retrieved October 31, 2010, from National Cable and Telecommunications Association: http://www.ncta.com/about/about/historyofcabletelevision.aspx

National Cable Telecommunications Association. (2009). *Basic Cable Subscribers*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from National Cable Telecommunications Association:

http://www.ncta.com/Stats/BasicCableSubscribers.aspx

National Public Radio. (2000). *Survey Shows Widespread Enthusiasm for High Technology*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from National Public Radio:

http://www.npr.org/programs/specials/poll/technology/

National Telecommunications and Information Administration . (2010). *State Broadband Data* & *Development Program*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from BroadbandUSA: Connecting America's Communities:

http://www2.ntia.doc.gov/SBDD?order=field\_amount\_value&sort=desc

National Telecommunications and Information Administration. (2010). *Exploring the Digital Nation: Home Broadband Internet Adoption in the United States.* Washington, DC: Department of Commerce.

- National Telecommunications and Information Administration. (2010). *State Broadband Data* & *Development Program*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from National Telecommunications and Information Administration: http://www2.ntia.doc.gov/SBDD
- Net Literacy. (2010). *Digital Literacy Corps*. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from Digital Literacy Corps: http://www.digitalliteracycorps.org
- Net Literacy. (2010). *DigitalLiteracy.org*. Retrieved 21 2010, October, from Digtial Literacy Best Practices: http://www.digitalliteracy.org/

Net Literacy. (2010). *Financial Connects Contest*. Retrieved October 24, 2010, from Financial Connects: http://contest.financialconnects.org/

Net Literacy. (2010). *Net Literacy*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Net Literacy: http://www.netliteracy.org/

Net Literacy. (2010). *Net Literacy Youtube Channel*. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from Youtube: http://www.youtube.com/user/NetLiteracy

Net Literacy Alliance. (2010). *Net Literacy Alliance*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Net Literacy Alliance: http://www.netliteracyalliance.org/

Net Literacy and the USIIA. (2010). How Digital Inclusion 3.0 Provides an ROI to ISPs. *International Internet Industry Alliance* (pp. 1-32). Johannesburg: Net Literacy and the USIIA.

New York Times. (2010, August 5). The Broadband Gap. The New York Times, pp. 1-2.

- Nielsen Company. (2008). An Overview of Home Internet Access in the U.S. Washington, D.C.: Nielsen Company.
- Northern Arizona University. (2010). *AmeriCorps Member Benefits*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Northern Arizona University:

http://www4.nau.edu/americorps/Benefits/MemberBenefits.htm#Amount

- Nusca, A. (2010, September 3). Global disparity in access to broadband infrastructure, UN report says. *Smartplanet*, pp. 1-4.
- OECD. (2010, June 10). OECD Broadband Portal. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Directorate for Science, Technology and Industry: http://www.oecd.org/sti/ict/broadband

- Office of the Government Chief Information . (2010). *Be Netwise*. Retrieved October 10, 2010, from Office of the Government Chief Information : http://be-netwise.hk/
- Office of the Telecommunications Authority. (2009). *Blue Tone's Tips for Broadband Service Users*. Retrieved October 10, 2010, from OFTA: http://www.broadbandtips.gov.hk/eng/

One Community. (2010). *One Community*. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from One community: http://onecommunity.org/

Orfield, G., Losen, D., Wald, J., & Swanson, C. B. (2004). *Lousing Our Future: How Minority Youth Are Being Left Behind by the Graduation Rate Crisis.* http://www.urban.org/UploadedPDF/410936 LosingOurFuture.pdf: Harvard College.

O'Shaughnessy, B., & Swiatek, J. (2008, June 22). *Reviving Indy's Near Eastside: Goal to go: A downtrodden section of the city gets a boost from the 2012 Super Bowl plan*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from The Indianapolis Star: http://www.indystar.com/article/20080622/LOCAL1803/806220390/Reviving-Indy-s-Near-Eastside

Oxman, J. (1999). *The FCC and the Unregulation of the Internet.* Washignton, DC: Federal Communications Commission.

Parents Television Council. (2004, February 2). *TV Timeline*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from Parents Television Council: http://www.parentstv.org/ptc/facts/tvtimeline.asp

Paul, I. (2010, March 15). FCC Broadband Plan: FAQ. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from PCWorld: http://www.pcworld.com/article/191525/fcc\_broadband\_plan\_faq.html Pew Internet and American Life Project. (2010, July 7). *More Cell Phone Owners Use an App for That*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from Pew Research Center Publications:

http://pewresearch.org/pubs/1654/wireless-internet-users-cell-phone-mobile-data-applications

Pew Internet and American Life Project. (2010). Spring Change Assesment Survey 2010. Washington,

D.C.: Pew Research Center.

- Pew Research Center. (2010, May). *Home Broadband Adoption Trend Data*. Retrieved October 31, 2010, from Pew Internet & American Life Project: http://pewinternet.org/Trend-Data/Home-Broadband-Adoption.aspx
- Pew Research Center for the People & the Press. (2010). *What about people who don't have any telephone service?* Retrieved December 10, 2010, from The Pew Research Center for the People & the Press: http://people-press.org/methodology/faq/#14

PriceWaterhouseCoopers. (October 2009). Champion for Digital Inclusion. London:

PriceWaterhouseCoopers.

Prime Minister's Strategy Unit. (2005). Connecting the UK: the Digital Strategy. London: Cabinet Office.

Pullar-Strecker, T. (2010, June 9). Broadband a social equity issue for Labour Party. *Stuff.co.nz*, p. 1.

- Puma, M. J., Chaplin, D. D., Olson, K. M., & Pandjiris, A. C. (2002). *The Integrated Studies of Educational Technology: A Formative Evaluation of the E-Rate Program.* Washington, D.C.: The Urban Institute.
- Rainie, L. (2010). *Internet, broadband, and cell phone statistics*. Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American Life Project.

Rampell, C. (2010, June 2). *Graduation Rates, by State and Race*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from New York Times: http://economix.blogs.nytimes.com/2010/06/02/graduation-rates-by-state-and-race

RCR Wireless News. (2010, November 9). *Feds: 64% of Americans have broadband access*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from RCR Wireless News:

http://www.rcrwireless.com/ARTICLE/20101109/FACILITATORS/101109944/feds-64-ofamericans-have-broadband-access

Rivoltella, P. (2008). *Digital Literacy: Tools and Methodologies for Information Society*. New York: IGI Publishing.

Rogers, E. M. (1995). Diffusion of Innovations. New York: The Free Press.

Safe Connects. (2010). *Safe Connects*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Safe Connects: http://www.safeconnects.org/

Sanchez, J. (2009, February 11). Broadband stimulus passes, but many questions linger. *Ars Technica*, pp. 1-2.

SAP. (2010). *SAP for Public Sector: Delivering Public ROI*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from SAP: http://www.sap.com/industries/publicsector/roi.epx

Satellite Broadcasting & Communications Association. (2010). *Industry History*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from Satellite Broadcasting & Communications Association:

http://www.sbca.com/receiver-network/history-satellite-providers.htm

Save the Youth, Inc. (2010). Save the Youth, Inc. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from Save the Youth,

Inc.: http://www.savetheyouth.org/

Schatz, A. (2010, September 2). FCC Still Weighing Broadband Plan. The Wall Street Journal, pp. 1-2.

Senior Connects. (2010). *Senior Connects*. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from Senior Connects: http://www.seniorconnects.org/

Settani, C. (2008, April 30). Digital Inclusion - What's Going on Nationally? Digital Inclusion Form, pp. 1-4.

- Shapiro, H., Hilding-Hamann, K. E., Nielsen, M. M., & Pedersen, K. (2009). Supporting Digital Literacy:
  Public Policies and Stakeholders' Initatives, Topic Report 4. Copenhagen: The European
  Commission on Digital Inclusion and the Danish Technological Institute.
- Shapiro, R., & Hassett, K. (2010). A New Analysis of Broadband Adoption Rates By Minority Households. Washington, DC: Georgetown Center for Business and Public Policy.
- Small, R. V. (2005). *Designing digtial literacy programs with Impact: Information Motivation, Purpose, Audience, Content, and Technique.* New York: Neal-Schuman Publishers, Inc.
- Smith, A. (2010). *Home Broadband 2010*. Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American Life Project.

Smith, A. (2010). *Mobile Access 2010.* Washington, D.C.: Pew Internet & American Life Project.

- Social Security Administration. (2010, April 29). *Supplemental Security Income*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Social Security Online: http://www.ssa.gov/ssi/
- Spilka, R. (2010). *Digital literacy for technical communication: 21st century theory and practice.* New York: Routledge.
- St. Clair, E. (2006). *Digital Inclusion: Using Technology to Build and Unify Urban Communities.* Philadelphia: Drexel University.

Stansbury, M. (2009, February 10). Benton: Unviesal broadband a necessity. eSchool News, pp. 1-3.

- Stetler, B., & Wortham, J. (2010, March 12). Effort to Widen U.S. Internet Access Sets Up Battle. *The New York Times*, pp. 1-3.
- Svennsson, P. (2010, August 10). Broadband adoption slows down, but blacks catch up. *The Associated Press*.
- Techpoint Foundation. (2010). *Techpoint Foundation*. Retrieved September 21, 2010, from Techpoint Foundation: http://www.techpointfoundation.org/
- Tessler, J. (2009, February 6). Broadband funding in stimulus plan sparks debate. *The Associated Press*, pp. 1-2.
- Tessler, J. (2010, February 23). FCC survey: Americans need broadband basics. *The Associated Press*, pp. 1-3.

The Economist. (2010, October 23). Free internet: The librarian's tale. The Economist, p. 38.

- The Museum of Broadcast Communications. (2010). *United States: Cable Television*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from The Museum of Broadcast Communications: http://www.museum.tv/eotvsection.php?entrycode=unitedstatesc
- Turner, S. (2005). *Broadband Reality Check: The FCC ignores America's Digital Divide.* Washington, DC: Free Press.
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2008). *Table 670: Average Annual Expediture of All Consumer Units By Race, Hispanic Origin, and Age of Householder: 2007.* Washington, D.C.: U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.

U.S. Census Bureau. (1996). *Current Population Reports: Projections of the Number of Households and Families in the Untied States: 1995 to 2010.* Washington, D.C.: U.S. Census Bureau.

U.S. Census Bureau. (2006, August 29). PINC-01. Selected Characteristics of People 15 Years and Over by Total Money Income in 2005, Work Experience in 2005, Race, Hispanic Origin, and Sex. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from U.S. Census Bureau:

http://pubdb3.census.gov/macro/032006/perinc/new01\_001.htm

U.S. General Services Administration. (1996, April 17). Executive Order 12999. Washington, D.C.

- UN News Service. (2010, May 10). Broadband internet can spur anti-poverty efforts, UN agency says. UN News Service, p. 1.
- Urban Dictionary. (2010, November 29). *digital social equity*. Retrieved November 29, 2010, from Urban Dictonary:

http://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=digital%20social%20equity&defid=5393755

- US Broadband Coalition. (2009). *Expanding and Accelerating the Adoption & Use of Broadband*. Washington, D.C.: US Broadband Coalition.
- US Census Bureau. (2010, June 29). *TIGER®, TIGER/Line® and TIGER®-Related Products*. Retrieved October 23, 2010, from US Census Bureau: http://www.census.gov/geo/www/tiger/
- US Internet Industry Association. (2010). USIIA. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from USIIA: http://www.usiia.org/
- US Internet Industry Association. (2010). USIIA. Retrieved September 6, 2010, from USIIA: http://www.usiia.org/

Website Optimization. (2010, August 30). *Two-Thirds of Americans on Broadband - US Broadband Growth Slows - August 2010 Bandwidth Report*. Retrieved November 25, 2010, from Website Optimization: http://www.websiteoptimization.com/bw/1008/

World Almanac. (2010). The World Almanac and Book of Facts 2010. World Almanac.

- Wuorio, J. (2010). *Project Management Software Benefits | Microsoft Small Business Center*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Microsoft Business: http://www.microsoft.com/business/enus/resources/technology/business-software/project-management-softwarebenefits.aspx#Howprojectmanagementsoftwarecanhelpyoustayontrack
- Wynne, M. E., Perry, K. A., & Cooper, L. F. (2009). *Innovating for Inclusion: A Digital Inclusion Guide for Those Leading the Way.* Redmond, Washington: Microsoft Corporation.

Yip, L., & Mok, Y. (2010, June 28). Hong Kong Internet Service Provider Association. (D. Kent, Interviewer)

Zumbrun, J. (2010, February 3). *Geithner Tells House Panel Deficits 'Unsustainable' (Update1)*. Retrieved December 10, 2010, from Bloomberg:

http://www.bloomberg.com/apps/news?pid=newsarchive&sid=alXEh9nxR.xI